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minimum provision. The government presented evidence
that, aggregating the three batches into one amount, Sandlin
manufactured between 124 and eighty-two grams of
methamphetamine. J.A. at 48-49. When these three amounts
are considered individually, there is no indication that Sandlin
ever manufactured, in a single batch, in excess of fifty grams
of methamphetamine.

We further conclude that relief is warranted under the plain-
error standard of review. Despite his failure to object below,
Sandlin has demonstrated that the district court committed
error, that the error was plain, and that it affected his
substantial rights, resulting, in fact, in a sentence almost twice
as long as the applicable guidelines range. Under these
circumstances, it is appropriate that we exercise our discretion
in granting Sandlin the relief that he seeks. Thus, we vacate
Sandlin’s sentence and remand for resentencing.

Having granted relief on this basis, we need not consider
whether the imposition of the mandatory-minimum sentence
violated Apprendi in the present case.

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we VACATE Sandlin’s
sentence and REMAND for further proceedings consistent
with this opinion. We also VACATE our prior opinion in
this matter, issued on April 2, 2002, pursuant to Fed. R. App.
P. 40(a)(4).
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AMENDED OPINION

PER CURIAM. Defendant-Appellant Thomas C. Sandlin
(“Sandlin”) was charged in a four-count indictment in the
United States District Court for the Western District of
Tennessee with various drug-related counts. Sandlin pleaded
guilty to the first count of the indictment, manufacturing and
attempting to manufacture in excess of fifty grams of
methamphetamine in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), and
the remaining counts were dismissed pursuant to the
government’s motion. Although the applicable sentencing
range for this count was only fifty-one to sixty-three months,
the district court sentenced Sandlin to the ten-year mandatory
minimumunder 21 U.S.C. § 841(b)(1)(A)(viii) for a violation
of § 84I(a)(1) “involving 50 grams or more of
methamphetamine.” Sandlin now appeals his sentence,
arguing, inter alia, that the district court erred in sentencing
him to the mandatory minimum because the government did
not prove that he engaged in any single act of manufacturing
that produced fifty or more grams of methamphetamine. For
the reasons stated below, we VACATE Sandlin’s sentence
and REMAND for resentencing within the applicable
guidelines range.
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aggregate, more than 100 plants. See id. at 491-92. The
district court concluded that, under the course of conduct
evidence offered by the government, the defendant had grown
more than 100 marijuana plants and thus sentenced her to the
mandatory-minimum sentence for having manufactured more
than 100 plants. See id. at491. We reversed, holding that the
count of conviction only covered 1993 and that the record did
not disclose evidence “that Rettelle cultivated marijuana on
a continuous basis.” Id. at 492. “Rather, Rettelle’s 1992 and
1993 marijuana crops were the products of distinct growing
seasons separated by several months in which Rettelle
apparently did not grow any plants.” Id.

In reaching this conclusion, we did not provide an “exact
definition” of the term “a violation” in the manufacturing
context but indicated that, in some cases, manufacturing will
involve an ongoing or “continuing” process. /d. Thus, if the
Rettelle defendant had grown marijuana plants year-round for
several years, she could have been sentenced for the aggregate
number of plants over the whole period. But where the
growing seasons, i.e., the acts of manufacturing, were distinct,
they had to be treated as distinct violations of 21 U.S.C.
§ 841(a)(1), and thus they could not be aggregated for
purposes of the mandatory minimums required by that
provision.

In the present case, the record indicates that Sandlin
manufactured the methamphetamine at issue in three batches
over a period of almost three months, March through May
1999. The record does not indicate, however, that Sandlin
manufactured these batches in anything resembling a
“continuing” basis, and the government did not produce any
evidence to that effect. Without a specific finding with
respect to this issue, the district court erred in aggregating the
quantities of methamphetamine that Sandlin manufactured for
sentencing purposes. Based on Winston and Rettelle, the
district court should have instead treated each batch of
methamphetamine as a separate “violation” of § 841(a)(1) in
considering whether Sandlin had produced sufficient
quantities of methamphetamine to trigger the mandatory-
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manufacturing in determining whether he had manufactured
in excess of fifty grams of methamphetamine and contends
that there is no support in the record for the conclusion that
any single act of manufacturing produced more than fifty
grams of methamphetamine.

In Winston, the defendant was convicted, after a jury trial,
of three separate counts: a count of conspiracy to possess in
excess of fifty grams of crack cocaine; a count of possession
of twenty-three grams of crack cocaine; and a count of
possession of thirty-seven grams of crack cocaine. Neither of
the possession counts, taken individually, involved a quantity
of crack cocaine large enough to trigger the mandatory-
minimum sentence, as each count involved a separate
violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1). For this reason, we held
that the Winston defendant could not be sentenced to a
mandatory term of life imprisonment under § 841(b)(1)(A).
In reaching this conclusion, we looked to the legislative
history of the statute and determined that, in using the term “a
violation” in § 841(b)(1)(A), Congress intended to target
major drug dealers and manufacturers as opposed to
small-time dealers and users. Winston,37 F.3d at 240-41. “If
we were to construe 21 U.S.C. § 841(b)(1)(A) as applying to
aggregate amounts of drugs held on various separate
occasions, it could be used against small-time dealers or users
who never possess more than a few grams at a time.” Id. at
241. Winston thus specifically held that discrete acts of
possession cannot be aggregated for purposes of calculating
the quantity necessary to trigger a mandatory-minimum
sentence for “a violation” of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1).

Because Winston involved possession, rather
manufacturing, its holding is not directly applicable to the
facts of the case sub judice. In Rettelle, however, we applied
the holding of Winston in the manufacturing context. The
Rettelle defendant pleaded guilty to growing to ninety-three
marijuana plants, which she stated had been grown in 1993.
See Rettelle, 165 F.3d at 490-92. Atsentencing, however, the
government offered evidence of a course of conduct, covering
both 1992 and 1993, in which the defendant had grown, in the
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I. BACKGROUND

On May 27, 1999, Sandlin confessed to officers at the
Selmer, Tennessee, police department that he had
manufactured three batches of methamphetamine in McNairy
County, Tennessee, during the period beginning on or about
March 1, 1999. He stated that he had manufactured in excess
of fifty grams of methamphetamine, considering the three
batches of methamphetamine as a whole, and that he used
some of what he made and gave away the rest to various
people. At that time, he also described, in some detail, the
process by which he made methamphetamine to the officers.

Following Sandlin’s confession, on September 22, 1999, a
federal grand jury returned a four-count indictment against
him. The indictment charged Sandlin with manufacturing and
attempting to manufacture in excess of fifty grams of
methamphetamine in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1),
possession with intent to distribute in excess of fifty grams of
methamphetamine in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1),
manufacturing and attempting to manufacture a controlled
substance creating a substantial risk of harm to human life in
violation of 21 U.S.C. § 858, and of establishing a place for
the manufacture of a controlled substance in violation of 21
U.S.C. § 856. On May 9, 2000, Sandlin pleaded guilty at a
plea hearing before the district judge to Count I of the
indictment, manufacturing and attempting to manufacture in
excess of fifty grams of methamphetamine in violation of 21
U.S.C. § 841(a)(1).

The probation officer subsequently prepared a Pre-Sentence
Report (“PSR”). The PSR stated that Sandlin admitted to
police that he had manufactured in excess of fifty grams of
methamphetamine. This amount resulted in a base offense
level of twenty-six, and, with a three-level reduction for
acceptance of responsibility, the total offense level was
calculated at twenty-three. Sandlin had a criminal history
category of II, resulting in a sentencing range under the
United States Sentencing Guidelines of fifty-one to sixty-
three months. The mandatory-minimum sentence under 21
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U.S.C. § 841(b)(1)(A)(viii) for a violation of § 841(a)(1)
“involving 50 grams or more of methamphetamine,” however,
was ten years. On May 15, 2000, Sandlin filed a position
paper in which he objected to imposition of the ten-year
mandatory-minimum sentence, arguing that the mandatory-
minimum sentence applies only if the offense involved the
manufacture of fifty grams or more of “pure”
methamphetamine or more than 500 grams of a substance
containing methamphetamine. Because he had not produced
pure methamphetamine, Sandlin argued that he should be
sentenced for having produced less than 500 grams of a
substance containing methamphetamine rather than for
producing more than fifty grams of pure methamphetamine.
Sandlin did not object, however, to the aggregation of the
amounts manufactured in the three batches for purposes of
reaching the threshold amount triggering the ten-year
mandatory-minimum sentence.

At the sentencing hearing, which was held on May 25,
2000, the government presented the testimony of a drug task
force agent who interviewed Sandlin on the day of his
confession. The agent testified that Sandlin was coherent,
that he appeared to understand the agent’s questions, and that
his confession appeared to be voluntary. The agent testified
that Sandlin informed him that he had made
methamphetamine in McNairy County on three occasions,
and that Sandlin provided the officer with a step-by-step
procedure of the manner in which he manufactured
methamphetamine. The government also presented testimony
of a forensic chemist who examined Sandlin’s statement to
the agent and his methamphetamine recipe. Based upon the
testimony of this chemist, the district court found that the
amount of methamphetamine manufactured in the three
batches to which Sandlin had admitted “easily reache[d] the
amount which would give us a ten-year statutory minimum”
and thus sentenced Sandlin to the mandatory minimum of ten
years. Joint Appendix (“J.A.”) at 54. This appeal followed.
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II. ANALYSIS

On appeal, Sandlin raises two arguments not raised below:
(1) that the district court erred in sentencing him pursuant to
the mandatory minimum because that minimum applies only
where the quantity in question was manufactured in a single
act of manufacturing; and (2) that his sentence violates
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), because the
district judge determined the drug quantity that subjected him
to the mandatory-minimum sentence by applying the
preponderance of the evidence standard. Because neither of
these challenges was raised below, our review is for plain
error. See United States v. Koeberlein, 161 F.3d 946, 949
(6th Cir. 1998). “Where . . . a criminal defendant has failed
to object below, he or she must demonstrate that the error was
plain as defined by Fed.R.Crim.P. 52(b) before we may
exercise our discretion to correct the error.” Id. Therefore,
for Sandlin to obtain relief, he must show that there was error,
that the error was plain, and that it affected his substantial
rights. See United States v. Vincent, 20 F.3d 229, 234 (6th
Cir. 1994). Even if all of these factors exist, we may abstain
from intervention unless the error affected the fairness,
integrity or public reputation of the proceeding. See id.

We first consider Sandlin’s contention that the district court
erred in imposing the mandatory-minimum sentence based on
the quantity of drugs that he admitted to manufacturing.
Sandlin now argues that the district court erred by treating his
three acts of manufacturing as one violation of 21 U.S.C.
§ 841(a)(1) in calculating drug quantity in determining
whether to apply the mandatory-minimum provision under
§ 841(b)(1)(A)(viii). In support, Sandlin cites United States
v. Winston, 37 F.3d 235 (6th Cir. 1994), and United States v.
Rettelle, 165 F.3d 489 (6th Cir. 1999), for the proposition that
a mandatory-minimum sentence, pursuant to § 841(b)(1)(A),
applies only to a defendant who has committed a single
violation of § 841(a)(1) involving more than the threshold
amount of drugs required by § 841(b)(1)(A). He argues that
the district court erred in aggregating the quantities of drugs
that he admitted having produced in three acts of



